

Agilent CMMB Conformance Testing Using the PXB with N7623B Signal Studio for Digital Video

**Application Note** 





# Table of Contents

Introduction	3
CMMB Technologies and Conformance Test Specs Overview	4
Logical channel	5
Frame and timeslot	5
Conformance test specs	6
PXB and N7623B in Brief	7
Test Setup and Configuration	8
Configuring PXB and N7623B for Conformance Testing	9
Generating waveforms using the N7623B	9
Configure the PXB for conformance testing1	1
Summary1	7
References 1	7
Related Literature	7
Appendix A1	8

### Introduction

CMMB, which stands for China Mobile Multimedia Broadcasting, is the Chinese mobile video industry standard, developed and specified by the State Administration of Radio, Film, and Television(SARFT). The core part of the CMMB system is the transmission technology called STiMi (Satellite-Terrestrial Interactive Multimedia Infrastructure), defined in GY/T 220.1<sup>[1]</sup>. GY/T 220.2<sup>[2]</sup> specifies the video, audio, data and control information multiplex frame structure. GY/T 220.7<sup>[3]</sup> specifies the performance requirements for the CMMB terminal.

Agilent provides CMMB signal sources based on the GY/T 220.1 and GY/T 220.2 standards, which can be used for receiver R&D and manufacturing across different platforms. Agilent PXB with N7623B Signal Studio for Digital Video can fully support the performance tests defined in GY/T 220.7.

This application note gives a brief introduction to the CMMB technologies and performance test requirements and explains the test setup and configuration using the PXB and N7623B for each test.

# CMMB Technologies and Conformance Test Specs Overview

The CMMB system is an 8 MHz or 2 MHz system, designed for broadcasting in mobile environments using a combination of satellite and terrestrial transmission. It is based on an OFDM modulation scheme and LPDC+ RS channel coding with interleaving and the frame is carefully designed for power saving. Figure 1 contains a block diagram of the CMMB system.

While CMMB doesn't use a standard MPEG2 transport stream (TS), it does use a multiplexing structure specifically designed for this system. The stream following this structure is known as an MFS (multiple Frame Stream). Agilent provides a transport stream library that includes several MFS files for different system configurations.

The key features of CMMB include:

- · Timeslot-based frame structure for power saving
- · OFDM for mobile reception and SFN
- LDPC + deep interleaving for high receiver performance
- Beacon for fast synchronization
- · Logical channel for flexible service configuration



Figure 1. CMMB block diagram.

### Logical channel

Logical channel is an important concept. There are two kinds of logical channels. One is the control logical channel (CLCH) and the other is the service logical channel (SLCH). The CLCH is transmitted over time slot 0 carrying the control information such as the parameters for SLCH. Each SLCH can be configured to occupy one or more time slots to transmit one service. The receiver only needs to power on during the time slots which contain the selected service, so power can be saved.



Figure 2. Logical channel structure.

### Frame and timeslot

The frame is 1 second long and includes 40 timeslots. One timeslot includes a beacon and 53 OFDM symbols. Transmitter ID and sync sequence are included in the beacon for fast synchronization.



Figure 3. Frame structure.

# Conformance test spec

The conformance tests defined in GY/T 220.7<sup>[3]</sup> mainly include

- · Sensitivity test: receiver performance for BPSK, QPSK and 16QAM
- Carrier to noise ratio threshold test: receiver performance under AWGN, static multipath channel, and dynamic multipath channel
- Interference test: performance with interference signals such as co-channel digital TV interference, adjacent channel digital TV interference, co-channel analog TV interference, and adjacent channel analog TV interference

#### **Test block diagram**

Figure 4 shows the block diagram for a carrier to noise ratio threshold test conducted under a fading environment. If the DUT (device under test) is the CMMB receiver that has the capability to estimate and report the BER before RS decoding, an additional BER tester is not needed.



Figure 4. Block diagram for carrier-to-noise ratio threshold under fading environment.

# PXB and N7623B in Brief

### PXB

N5106A PXB is a multi-channel baseband signal generator. At the heart of the PXB are its configurable DSP blocks which can be configured to act as baseband generators or faders to suit testing needs. The PXB has reconfigurable architecture with internal signal routing so it can be easily configured for different tests through the GUI or SCPI.

For the CMMB test, the PXB can be configured with one baseband card with 2 DSP blocks. One DSP block is used for the CMMB signal, the other one can be used for fading or interference signal generation. The memory size of the PXB is 512 MSa, so the playback time for the CMMB waveform can be 50 secs, which is long enough for all the tests.

### N7623B

N7623B Signal Studio for Digital Video provides digital video signals for almost all of the main digital video standards, including the DVB series, CMMB, ISDB-T, and ATSC. The waveforms generated by N7623B can be played back on the E4438C ESG, N5182A MXG and N5106B PXB.

N7623B Signal Studio for Digital Video can read the MFS files to generate CMMB waveforms to support subjective video test. There are two types of MFS files.

Type 1: Only one program is included.

**Type 2:** Includes several programs multiplexed and one control frame. The control frame contains several tables for physical layer configuration.

Agilent provides a CMMB transport stream library Z2093-CMMB, including ten stream files of type 1 and two stream files of type 2 for different system configurations (LDPC rates and modulation schemes). The videos in type 1 files are standard TV test pattern color bars and the videos in type 2 files are several real TV programs. Both types of files can work with N7623B, while type 1 is more flexible and type 2 is easier to set up.



## **Test Setup and Configuration**

Conformance testing requires desired signals as well as impairments such as interference signal, fading, and AWGN. The system setup is shown in Figure 5, which contains three steps:

#### Step 1:

Generate the waveforms of the desired signal and download them into the N5106A PXB using N7623B. N7623B can be installed in a controller PC or in the PXB directly.

### Step 2:

Connect the PXB to the MXG via an LVDS digital bus cable and configure the MXG to generate the RF signal. Make sure the LAN or GPIB connection to the MXG works well. Note that you need to set the output power of the MXG according to the specs and take the attenuation caused by the cable into consideration.

### Step 3:

Configure the PXB to play back the waveforms and to add the impairments as specified in the specs.



Figure 5. Conformance testing system setup.

The configurations for each model are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Test system configurations

Model number	Options
N5182A MXG	503 frequency ranges from 250 kHz to 3 GHz
N5106A PXB	<ul> <li>186 digital video application bundle including:</li> <li>612 2 DSP blocks on 1 baseband card</li> <li>632 2 I/O ports - 2 analog I/O out and 2 digital I/O on 1 I/O card</li> <li>EFP baseband generation</li> <li>JFP calibrated AWGN</li> <li>QFP fading with SISO channel models</li> </ul>
N7623B Signal Studio for Digital Video	6FP connect to N5106A YFP CMMB advanced

## Configuring the PXB and N7623B for **Conformance Testing**

CMMB terminal conformance testing needs waveforms with different configurations, such as waveforms for BPSK, QPSK, and 16QAM with  $\frac{1}{2}$  or  $\frac{3}{4}$  LDPC code rates, respectively, and it needs impairments such as AWGN, multi-path fading, or interferences. The waveforms are generated using the N7623B and the impairments are generated using the N5106A PXB.

### Generating waveforms using the N7623B

N7623B can be used to generate the required waveforms. The setup in N7623B is shown in Figure 6. For the data source, the stream file for dedicated settings should be used (related to code rate and modulation).

	Status	On
	Reed Solomon Code Rate	RS(240, 224)
	LDPC Code Rate	1/2
	Interleaving	Interleaving Mode 1
	Modulation Type	QPSK 🗾
	Scrambler Initial Code	BPSK
		QPSK
Ci.	auro 6 N7622P cotup	16 QAM

Figure 6. N7623B setup.

There are two methods for generating the required waveforms.

#### Method 1:

Each waveform includes one service program with one configuration. The setting for N7623B is shown in Figure 7 where SLCH 0 carries one program with 1/2 code rate and QPSK. Multiple waveforms are needed for testing different configurations.

PLCH	Status	Number of Timeslots	RS Rate	LDPC Rate	Modulation
CLCH	On	1	RS(240,240)	1/2	BPSK
SLCH 0	On	4	RS(240,224)	1/2	QPSK
SLCH 1	Off	35	RS(240,240)	1/2	QPSK

	<b>T</b> (	~				,
Figuro /	The cotting	tor ono	conuco	nrogram	in	and wavatorm
I IUUIE 7.	THE SELLING	IUI UIIE	SEIVILE	viouialli	111	
				1		

#### Method 2:

One waveform includes multiple service programs with different configurations. The setting for N7623B is shown in Figure 8. All required configurations are obtained in this waveform. The receiver can decode each service program, respectively, to get the performance for different configurations. For example, receivers can turn on during SLCH 1 to decode the program carried on the SLCH and report the BER, so the performance for ½ LDPC code rate and 160AM can be tested. This is a much simpler and faster way to conduct receiver performance testing for different configurations.

PLCH	Status	Number of Timeslots	RS Rate	LDPC Rate	Modulation
CLCH	On	1	RS(240,240)	1/2	BPSK
SLCH 0	On	2	RS(240,224)	1/2	QPSK
SLCH 1	On	2	RS(240,224)	1/2	16 QAM
SLCH 2	On	2	RS(240,224)	3/4	16 QAM
SLCH 3	On	4	RS(240,224)	1/2	QPSK
SLCH 4	On	4	RS(240,224)	3/4	QPSK
SLCH 5	On	4	RS(240,224)	1/2	BPSK
SLCH 6	On	6	RS(240,224)	3/4	BPSK
SLCH 7	On	3	RS(240,224)	1/2	QPSK
SLCH 8	On	4	RS(240,224)	1/2	QPSK
SLCH 9	On	8	RS(240,240)	1/2	QPSK

Figure 8. Settings for multiple service programs in one waveform.

The waveforms will be saved on the hard disk of the PXB and loaded into the PXB's memory through the PXB's baseband generator setting, shown in Figure 9, and then the waveform will be played back. These waveforms will be used for all testing.

Baseband Generator: BB Gen1						
Restore Default S	Settings		🖪 Block Diagra			
General Settings	Marker Generation	Power Calibration Settings	Power Calibration Graphics			
Settings						
Enabled		On				
Waveform Sc	Vaveform Source Name C:\Program Files\Agilent\PXB\FactoryDefaultWavefo		Files\Agilent\PXB\FactoryDefaultWaveforms\de			
Numeric Form	Format Two's Complement		ement			
Number of Sa	amples	5000				
Sample Rate		100.00000	0 MSa/s			
Trigger Delay		0 ns				
Loop Count		0				
Last Sample 3	Last Sample State		ue			
Runtime Scal	Runtime Scaling		-3.00 dB			
Baseband Fre	equency Offset	0.00 Hz	0.00 Hz			

Figure 9. PXB baseband generator setting.

# Configure the PXB for Conformance Testing

N5106A PXB can be configured to introduce AWGN, multi-path fading or interference to the signals, which are to be used for C/N and interference tests.

#### **Sensitivity test**

The CMMB terminal sensitivity test needs signals of BPSK, QPSK, and 16QAM with LDPC code rate  $\frac{1}{2}$  and  $\frac{3}{4}$ , as shown in Table  $2^{[3]}$ .

Channel c	Sensitivity (dBm)			
Modulation	LDPC code rate	U band		
BPSK	1/2	-98		
	3⁄4	-96		
QPSK	1/2	-95		
	3⁄4	-92		
16QAM	1/2	-90		
	3⁄4	-86		

Table 2. CMMB receiver sensitivity test performance specs (BER  $\leq 3 \times 10^{-6}$ )

To perform sensitivity tests on a CMMB terminal, configure the PXB as shown in Figure10. Only one DSP block is used to generate the baseband signal here. The BER requirement is  $3 \times 10^{-6}$ . If the BER reported by the receiver is lower than it, it means this receiver can meet the specs.



Figure 10. PXB configuration for sensitivity testing.

#### Carrier to Noise ratio (C/N) threshold test

In the C/N ratio threshold test, performance under AWGN, Rayleigh channel, Dual-path with equal strength channel, and TU-6 channel is defined.

### **Test 1: C/N performance in the AWGN channel**

The specs for the C/N ratio threshold test under AWGN are shown in Table  $3^{[3]}$ .

Channel c				
Modulation	LDPC code rate			
BPSK	1/2	—		
	3⁄4	—		
QPSK	1/2	2.7		
	3⁄4	5.1		
16QAM	1/2	8.6		
	3⁄4	12		

Table 3. C/N in AWGN channel (AWGN, BER  $\leq 3 \times 10^6$ )

To perform the C/N ratio threshold test, first configure the PXB as shown in Figure 9, turn on AWGN, and set the bandwidth and C/N ratio as shown in Figure 11. The output power level of the MXG should be about 30 dB higher than receiver's sensitivity level.

Restore Default Settings	🗷 Block Dia
General Settings AWGN Settings Marker S	election AWGN Graphics
□ AWGN	
AWGN Enabled	On
Crest Factor	12.88 dB
Integration Bandwidth	10.000000 MHz
Noise Bandwidth	10.000000 MHz
Units	SNR
Signal To Noise Ratio	2.7 dB
Optimization	Constant Noise Power
Output MUX	Signal + Noise

Figure 11. AWGN setting.

### Test 2: C/N Performance in Multi-Path Fading Channel

To perform the C/N ratio threshold test in the multi-path fading channel, configure the PXB as shown in Figure 12. Here, one DSP block is used to generate the baseband signal, and one is used for multi-path fading.



Figure 12. PXB configuration for multipath fading testing.

In GY/T 220.7<sup>[3]</sup>, three multi-path fading environments are defined, as shown in Appendix A. The first one is Rayleigh fading with 20 paths, the second is dual paths with equal strength, and the third is dynamical multipath fading TU-6 with Doppler shift. The specs for C/N tests under three fading channels are shown in Table 4, Table 5, and Table  $6^{[3]}$ .

Table 4. C/N in 20-path Rayleigh fading channel (LDPC code rate:  $\frac{1}{2}$ , BER  $\leq 3 \times 10^6$ )

Modulation	C/N (dB)
BPSK	—
QPSK	4.9
16QAM	11.3

Table 5. C/N in dual-path fading channel (LDPC code rate:  $\frac{1}{2}$ , BER  $\leq 3 \times 10^6$ )

Channel co		
Modulation	Delay (µs)	С/N (UD)
QPSK	40	7
16QAM	50	11

Table 6. C/N in TU-6 fading channel (LDPC code rate:  $\frac{1}{2}$ , BER  $\leq 3 \times 10^{-6}$ )

Channel co		
Modulation	Doppler (Hz)	U/N (UD)
QPSK	20	7.7
	100	7.0
	300	7.8
160AM	20	14.3
	100	13.7
	250	13.8

To perform tests in the first two fading channels, you can set channel profiles manually via the GUI of the PXB, as shown in Figure13. For each path fading type, delay, loss, phase shift, etc., can be set. This means that the 20-path Rayleigh channel defined in GY/T 200.7 can be supported in the PXB.

Settings Browser	👖 Fadir	🖬 Fading : Fader1 Paths									
Baseband Generator	Restore	Restore Default Settings Columns			Chann	el Bandwidth:	80 M H z 🖪 🖪	ock Diagram			
BB Gen1	Path	Enabled	Fading Type		Spectral Shape	3	Delay	Loss	Vehicle Speed	Doppler Frequency	Carrier Coupli
🗏 Fading	1	V	Rayleigh	~	Classical 6dB	~	518.7 ns	7.80 dB	0.00 km/h	0.000 Hz	Dopple
Master Setup 1	2	V	Rayleigh 🍟	×	Classical 6dB	~	1.0030 µs	24.80 dB	0.00 km/h	0.000 Hz	Dopple
	3		Rayleigh 🎽	~	Classical 6dB	*	5.4421 µs	15.00 dB	0.00 km/h	0.000 Hz	Dopple
Faderi Paths	4		Rayleigh 🛰	~	Classical 6dB	~	2.7518 µs	10.40 dB	0.00 km/h	0.000 Hz	Dopple
⊟ 1/0	5	~	Rayleigh 📉	~	Classical 6dB	~	0.6029 µs	11.70 dB	0.00 km/h	0.000 Hz	Dopple
1/0 1 Port A1	6		Rayleigh 🛰	~	Classical 6dB	~	1.0166 µs	24.20 dB	0.00 km/h	0.000 Hz	Dopple
	7	~	Rayleigh 😽	~	Classical 6dB	~	143.6 ns	16.50 dB	0.00 km/h	0.000 Hz	Dopple
Signal Generator     8	8	~	Ravleich N	~	Classical 6dB	~	153.8 ns	25.80 dB	0.00 km/h	0.000 Hz	≥ slaao C

Figure 13. Multipath setting.

For the third case, you can find the TU-6 channel in the pre-defined channel profiles in the PXB, as shown in Figure 14. After the channel profile is selected, set the Doppler shift in the GUI as shown in Figure 13.

Baseband Generator	Restore Default Settings	Channel Bandwidth: 120 MHz 📧 Block Diag	ram
BB Gen1	Fader Setup		
E Fading	Fader 1 Settings		
	Fader 1 Channel Model	GSM_EDGE/TUx 6 Tap(1)	~
😑 Master Setup 1	Fader 1 Mode		~
Fader1 Paths	Fader 1 Carrier Frequency		
	🖻 Random Seed	— HTx 12 Tap(1)	
□ I/0	🖷 Random Seed (Hex)		
I/0 1 Port A1		— HTx 6 Tap(1)	
🗏 Signal Generator		— HTx 6 Tap(2)	=
		— TUx 12 Tap(1)	
MXG		— TUx 12 Tap(2)	
		— TUx 6 Tap(1)	
		— TUx 6 Tap(2)	
		- EQx	
	Fader 1 Channel Model	Tlx	
	The standard path configuration for channel 1.	■ COST259	~

Figure 14. Pre-defined channel profile selection.

After multipath is set up, the C/N can be set up according to Table 4, 5 and 6 for 3 cases, respectively. The required waveform should be played back and the output power level of the MXG should be about 30 dB higher than receiver's sensitivity level.

#### **Interference test**

The immunity of the CMMB terminal to interferences includes co-channel digital and analog interference, and adjacent channel digital and analog interference. The specs are shown in Table 7.

Interference type	Modulation	C∕I (dB)
Co-channel digital	QPSK	_
Upper adjacent digital	QPSK	-37
Lower adjacent digital	QPSK	-37
Co-channel analog	QPSK	-9.2
	160AM	-4
Upper adjacent analog	QPSK	-42
Lower adjacent analog	QPSK	-43

Table 7. Immunity to interferences (LDPC code rate: 1/2)

The configuration of the PXB is shown in Figure 15. Here, one DSP block is used for the desired signals and the other one is used for the interference signal. The waveforms for desired signals and interference signals can be loaded into two baseband generators, respectively. Then, the output of two baseband generators are summed.



Figure 15. PXB configuration for interference testing.

The interference signals can be co-channel analog TV signals, adjacent digital, or analog TV signals, as defined in Table 7. The frequency offset and power level difference between two signals can be set through the Baseband Frequency Offset and Runtime Scaling for each baseband generator, as shown in Figure 16. For co-channel interference, set the Baseband Frequency Offset to 0. For adjacent channel interference, set the Baseband Frequency Offset to –bandwidth/2 and bandwidth/2, respectively, instead of 0 and bandwidth, in order to make the signal symmetrical to the carrier to avoid an image in the spectrum.

General Settings	Marker Generation	Power Calibration Settings	Power Calibration Graphics		
□ Settings					
Enabled	Enabled		On		
Waveform Sc	Waveform Source Name		C:\Program Files\Agilent\PXB\FactoryDefaultWaveforms\de		
Numeric Form	nat	Two's Complemer	ıt		
Number of Sa	amples	5000			
Sample Rate 100.0000000 MSa/s		Sa/s			
Trigger Delay		0 ns			
Loop Count		0			
Last Sample S	State	Hold Last Value			
Runtime Scali	ing	-3.00 dB			
Baseband Fre	equency Offset	-4.00000000 N	1Hz		

Figure 16. Baseband generator setting for interference testing.

### **Summary**

CMMB receiver conformance testing is defined by SARFT to enable CMMB devices or mobile phones with integrated CMMB receivers to be commercially used. Agilent's efficient receiver performance test system, made up of the PXB and the MXG with Signal Studio for Digital Video (N7623B), allows for testing, as defined in GY/T 200.7, to be conducted easily.

## References

- 1. GY/T 220.1, "Mobile Multimedia Broadcasting Part 1: Frame Structure, Channel coding and Modulation for Broadcasting Channel", 2006.
- 2. GY/T 220.2, "Mobile Multimedia Broadcasting Part 2: Multiplexing", 2006.
- 3. GY/T 220.7, "Mobile Multimedia Broadcasting Part 7: Technical Specifications for Receiving and decoding terminal", 2008.

# **Related Literature**

Agilent N5182A MXG Signal Generators, Brochure, Literature number 5989-5074EN

Agilent N5182A MXG Vector Signal Generator, Data Sheet, Literature number 5989-5261EN

Agilent N5182A MXG Signal Generators, Configuration Guide, Literature number 5989-5485EN

Agilent N5106A PXB Baseband Generator and Channel Emulator, Data sheet, Literature number 5989-8971EN

Agilent N5106A PXB Baseband Generator and Channel Emulator, Quick Start Guide, Literature number N5105-90004

Agilent N5106A PXB Baseband Generator and Channel Emulator, Configuration Guide, Literature number 5989-8972EN

For additional information on the Agilent MXG Series signal generator, go to **http://www.agilent.com/find/mxg** 

For additional information on the Agilent PXB Baseband Generator and Channel Emulator, go to **http://www.agilent.com/find/pxb** 

For additional information on Agilent N7623B Signal Studio for Digital Video, go to http://www.agilent.com/find/n7623b

# Appendix A

### **Rayleigh Fading Channel model**

Path number	Amplitude (dB)	Delay (us)	Phase shift (°)
1	-7.8	0.518650	336.0
2	-24.8	1.003019	278.2
3	-15.0	5.422091	195.9
4	-10.4	2.751772	127.0
5	-11.7	0.602895	215.3
6	-24.2	1.016585	311.1
7	-16.5	0.143556	226.4
8	-25.8	0.153832	62.7
9	-14.7	3.324886	330.9
10	-7.9	1.935570	8.8
11	-10.6	0.429948	339.7
12	-9.1	3.228872	174.9
13	-11.6	0.848831	36.0
14	-12.9	0.073883	122.0
15	-15.3	0.203952	63.0
16	-16.5	0.194207	198.4
17	-12.4	0.924450	210.0
18	-18.7	1.381320	162.4
19	-13.1	0.640512	191.0
20	-11.7	1.368671	22.6

### Tu-6 channel model

Path number	Doppler spectrum	Delay (us)	Amplitude (dB)
1	Rayleigh	0.0	-3
2	Rayleigh	0.2	0
3	Rayleigh	0.5	-2
4	Rayleigh	1.6	-6
5	Rayleigh	2.3	-8
6	Rayleigh	5.0	-10



#### www.agilent.com/find/emailupdates

Get the latest information on the products and applications you select.

# LXI

#### www.lxistandard.org

LXI is the LAN-based successor to GPIB, providing faster, more efficient connectivity. Agilent is a founding member of the LXI consortium.

#### **Agilent Channel Partners**

www.agilent.com/find/channelpartners

Get the best of both worlds: Agilent's measurement expertise and product breadth, combined with channel partner convenience.

### **Remove all doubt**

Our repair and calibration services will get your equipment back to you, performing like new, when promised. You will get full value out of your Agilent equipment throughout its lifetime. Your equipment will be serviced by Agilent-trained technicians using the latest factory calibration procedures, automated repair diagnostics and genuine parts. You will always have the utmost confidence in your measurements. For information regarding self maintenance of this product, please contact your Agilent office.

Agilent offers a wide range of additional expert test and measurement services for your equipment, including initial start-up assistance, onsite education and training, as well as design, system integration, and project management.

For more information on repair and calibration services, go to:

www.agilent.com/find/removealldoubt

#### www.agilent.com

For more information on Agilent Technologies' products, applications or services, please contact your local Agilent office. The complete list is available at:

#### www.agilent.com/find/contactus

#### Americas

Canada	(877) 894-4414
Latin America	305 269 7500
United States	(800) 829-4444

#### Asia Pacific

Australia	1 800 629 485
China	800 810 0189
Hong Kong	800 938 693
India	1 800 112 929
Japan	0120 (421) 345
Korea	080 769 0800
Malaysia	1 800 888 848
Singapore	1 800 375 8100
Taiwan	0800 047 866
Thailand	1 800 226 008

#### **Europe & Middle East**

Austria	43 (0) 1 360 277 1571		
Belgium	32 (0) 2 404 93 40		
Denmark	45 70 13 15 15		
Finland	358 (0) 10 855 2100		
France	0825 010 700*		
	*0.125 €/minute		
Germany	49 (0) 7031 464 6333		
Ireland	1890 924 204		
Israel	972-3-9288-504/544		
Italy	39 02 92 60 8484		
Netherlands	31 (0) 20 547 2111		
Spain	34 (91) 631 3300		
Sweden	0200-88 22 55		
Switzerland	0800 80 53 53		
United Kingdom	44 (0) 118 9276201		
Other European Countries:			
www.agilent.com/find/contactus			
Revised: October 1, 2009			

Product specifications and descriptions in this document subject to change without notice.

© Agilent Technologies, Inc. 2010 Printed in USA, January 4, 2010 5990-4978EN

